

APPENDIX A: REFERENCES

HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN REFERENCES

Accomack Planning Commission and Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Accomack Comprehensive Plan*. 1989.

Accomack County. *About the County-Accomack County*. 2021. <https://www.co.accomack.va.us/about-us/about-the-county>.

Accomack County. *Accomack County Building Code*. 2016. <https://www.co.accomack.va.us/departments/building-inspections-and-zoning/services/building-permits-and-code-inspections>.

Accomack County. *Accomack County Comprehensive Plan*. 2018.

Accomack County. *Accomack County Public Safety*. 2021. <https://www.co.accomack.va.us/departments/public-safety>.

Accomack County Sheriff's Department. Personal Communications. July 27, 2021.

Accomack County. *Accomack County Website*. 2021. <https://www.co.accomack.va.us/>.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC) and Eastern Shore of Virginia Groundwater Committee. *Eastern Shore of Virginia Groundwater Resource Protection and Preservation Plan*. 2013.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC) and Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee. *Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan*. 2006.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC) and Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee. *Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan*. 2011.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC) and Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee. *Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan*. 2016.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Eastern Shore of Virginia Regional Needs Assessment*. 2016. http://www.a-npdc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/RDNA_2016.pdf.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Eastern Shore of Virginia Transportation Infrastructure Inundation Vulnerability Assessment*. 2015.

Accomack-Norhampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Parksley Downtown Revitalization Plan*. 2019.

Accomack Northampton Transportation District Commission (ANTDC). Minutes. December 2021.

ArcGIS. *Virginia Base Mapping Program Road Centerline Data*. 2014. <https://vgin.maps.arcgis.com/home/index.html>.

Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association: KWAL Wallops Flight Facility. 2022. <https://www.aopa.org/destinations/airports/KWAL/details>.

Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan 2021

AirNav: Tangier Airport. 2022. www.airnav.com/airport/KTGI.

Beth Hart, Town Mayor and Teresa Guy, Vice Mayor. (Town of Keller). Personal Communications. May 4, 2021.

Britt McMillan, Eastern Shore Ground Water Committee Hydrogeologist Consultant. Personal Communications. January 25, 2022.

Bruce Herbert, Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). Personal Communications. July 19, 2021.

Bryan Rush, Director of Emergency Services; Michael Tolbert, Town Manager; and Mark Bowden, Building and Zoning Administrator. (Town of Chincoteague). Personal Communications. April 7, 2021.

Bryan Tittermary, Police Chief. (Town of Bloxom). Personal Communications. March 16, 2021.

Charles Wilbur, Town Mayor. (Town of Melfa). Personal Communications. June 8, 2021.

Centers for Disease Control (CDC). *Principle of Epidemiology in Public Health Practice*. 2012. 3rd Edition, Section 11: "Epidemic Diseases Occurrence". <http://www.cdc.gov/opphss/csels/dsepd/ss1978/lesson1/section11.html>. Retrieved March 16, 2021.

Chesapeake Bay Bridge-Tunnel: Travel Information and Weather Conditions. 2021. <http://www.cbbt.com/travel-information/weather/>.

Chief Greg DeYoung, Exmore Volunteer Fire Company. (Town of Exmore). Personal Communications. March 23, 2021.

Cicoira, L. *Eastern Shore Post*, "Shore communities felt wrath of Sandy's fury." November 2, 2012. <https://www.easternshorepost.com/wp-content/archives/2012/11.02.2012.pdf>.

Climate Central. *Sea level rise and coastal flood exposure: Summary for Accomack County, VA*. 2014. http://ssrf.climatecentral.org.s3-website-us-east1.amazonaws.com/Buffer2/states/VA/downloads/pdf_reports/County/VA_Accomack_County-report.pdf.

Code of Federal Regulations. *Emergency Management and Assistance*, 2012. <https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CFR-2012-title44-vol1/pdf/CFR-2012-title44-vol1-part206.pdf>.

Colwell, R. *Global Climate and Infectious Disease: The Cholera Paradigm*. 1996. "Science" Vol 274. <http://www.sciencemag.org/content/274/5295/2025.full.pdf>. Retrieved March 18, 2021.

Connie Campbell, Town Mayor and Kerri Atkinson, Town Clerk. (Town of Painter). Personal Communications. May 26, 2021.

Deborah Bliss, Planning Commission Chair. (Town of Onley). Personal Communications. October 24, 2022.

Denise Drewer, Town Mayor. (Town of Saxis). Personal Communications. June 6, 2016 and June 9, 2016.

Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR). *Virginia Flood Risk Information System (VFRIS)*. 2021.

Donna Croushore, Town Council Member. (Town of Saxis). Personal Communications. April 7, 2021.

Eastern Shore Housing Alliance (ESHA). Personal Communications. June 13, 2016.

References

- Eastern Shore of Virginia 9-1-1 Communications Center: Eastern Shore of Virginia 911-Agencies. 2021. www.esva911.org.
- Eastern Shore of Virginia Coastal Erosion Vulnerability Assessment*. 2003.
- Eastern Shore of Virginia Coastal Flood Vulnerability Assessment*. 2006.
- Eastern Shore of Virginia Coastal Flood Vulnerability Assessment*. 2011.
- Eastern Shore of Virginia Ground Water Resource Protection and Preservation Plan*. 2013.
- Eastern Shore of Virginia Wind Vulnerability Assessment*. 2006.
- Ed Sudendorf, NASA WFF Airport Manager. Personal Communications. April 8, 2016.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). Crime Data Explorer. 2020. <https://crime-data-explorer.app.cloud.gov/pages/le/pe>. Accessed January 2022.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *Community Status Book Report, Virginia*. 2021.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map*. 2015. <https://msc.fema.gov/portal/home>.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Study: Cape Charles, VA*. nd.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Study: Onancock, VA*. 1981.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Study: Saxis, VA*. 1982.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Study: Tangier Island, VA*. nd.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Insurance Study: Wachapreague, VA*. nd.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Risk Report: Accomack County, Virginia Coastal Study*. 2015.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA Flood Risk Report: Northampton County, Virginia Coastal Study*. 2015.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA NFIP Flood Insurance Report*. 2003.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA NFIP Flood Insurance Report*. 2006.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA NFIP Flood Insurance Report*. 2011.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *FEMA NFIP Flood Insurance Report*. 2016.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *Planning for Post-Disaster Recovery and Reconstruction*. 1998. FEMA #421, p 124.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *Principles of Practices of Planning, Siting, Designing, Constructing, and Maintaining Residential Buildings in Coastal Areas*. August 2011. FEMA Coastal Construction Manual. Fourth Edition, Volume 1.

Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan 2021

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). *Wachapreague, Virginia lowers flood insurance premiums*. 2018. <https://www.fema.gov/press-release/20210318/wachapreague-virginia-lowers-flood-insurance-premiums>.

Ferrar, D. *Delmarva Now*, "Waterspout, funnels surprise Delmarva on Wednesday." July 27, 2016. <https://www.delmarvanow.com/story/news/local/maryland/2016/07/27/national-weather-service-tornado-warning-worcester-county/87620924/>.

Gaynair, G. *The Virginia-Pilot*, "For 40 migrants, old Eastern Shore estate is home away from home". September 23, 2006.

Greg Hardesty and Mary Mears, Town Council Members. (Town of Cheriton). Personal Communications. January 14, 2016.

Hamilton, M. *The Washington Post*, "Bay Tunnel Survives Dark Days". March 19, 1984.

Jackie Davis, Town Mayor. (Town of Cheriton). Personal Communications. March 25, 2021.

Jackie Poulson, Town Mayor and Danny Shrieves, Town Clerk. (Town of Hallwood). Personal Communications. May 24, 2021.

James Eichelberger, Former Town Mayor. (Town of Parksley). Personal Communications. January 14, 2016.

Janelle Dawkins, A&N Electric Cooperative (ANEC). Personal Communications. July 28, 2016.

Jeanette Eby, Town Clerk. (Town of Bloxom). Personal Communications. March 16, 2021.

Jeb Brady, Building Official. (Town of Cape Charles). Personal Communications. March 23, 2021.

Jim Sturgis, Town Mayor and David Eder, Chief of Police. (Town of Eastville). Personal Communications. May 25, 2021.

John Joeckel, Former Town Mayor. (Town of Wachapreague). Personal Communications. April 18, 2016.

John Pavlik, Zoning Administrator. (Town of Onley). Personal Communications. February 18, 2016.

John Spivey, Chief of Police. (Town of Onley). Personal Communications. March 30, 2021 and May 6, 2021.

Jon Richardson, Chief Operating Officer. (Virginia Department of Health). Personal Communications. May 2016.

Jordan, M. *The New York Times*, "Migrant Workers Restricted to Farms Under One Grower's Virus Lockdown". October 19, 2020.

Lauren Lewis, Town Clerk. (Town of Parksley). Personal Communications. March 25, 2021.

Laurie Thomas, Town Manager. (Town of Tangier). Personal Communications. April 29, 2021.

Matt Spuck, Town Manager. (Town of Onancock). Personal Communications. March 31, 2021 and July 29, 2021.

Melfa Volunteer Fire and Rescue Company. *Eastern Shore Fire Website*. 2016. www.easternshorefire.com/station-10/.

References

- Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC). National Land Cover Data Set. 2011.
- Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC). National Land Cover Data Set. 2019.
- NASA: Wallops Flight Facility Website. 2017. <https://www.nasa.gov/centers/wallops/home>. Accessed January 2022.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). *C-CAP Atlas*. 2016. <https://coast.noaa.gov/ccapatlas>.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. *NOAA National Center for Environmental Information*. 2021. <https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/>.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Building Code*. 2016. https://co.northampton.va.us/government/departments_elected_offices/planning_permitting_enforcement/zoning/zoning_services_and_permits.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Comprehensive Plan*. 2009.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Comprehensive Plan*. 2021. (*Your Northampton County 2040: Public Hearing Draft May 4, 2021*).
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Website*. 2021. (EMS) <http://www.northampton-ems.org/>.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Website*. 2021. (Our Towns) https://www.co.northampton.va.us/residents/our_towns/exmore.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Website*. 2021. (Solid Waste) https://www.co.northampton.va.us/government/departments_elected_offices/solid_waste.
- Northampton County. *Northampton County Website*. 2021. <https://co.northampton.va.us/>.
- Old Dominion Electric Cooperative. *ODEC General Facilities*. 2022. <https://www.odec.com/generation-transmission-overview/generation-facilities/>.
- Painter Volunteer Fire Company. (Town of Painter). Personal Communications. May 26, 2021.
- Pat Smith, Town Mayor. (Town of Accomac). Personal Communications. July 15, 2021.
- Patsy Stith, Town Mayor; Andrea Fox, Town Council Member; and Kim Fitzpatrick, Town Council Member. (Town of Nassawadox). Personal Communications. May 5, 2021.
- Renee Tyler, Former Town Manager. (Town of Tangier). Personal Communications. June 16, 2016.
- Robert Duer, Town Manager and Taylor Dukes, Utilities Director/Zoning Administrator. (Town of Exmore). Personal Communications. March 23, 2021.
- Robert Hodgson, Town Council Member. (Town of Wachapreague). Personal Communications. November 10, 2016.
- Robert Williams, Floodplain Administrator/CRS Coordinator. (Town of Wachapreague). Personal Communications. March 17, 2021.
- Russel Jones, Former Town Mayor. (Town of Onancock). Personal Communications. June 2, 2016.

Schulte, D. M. et al. *Climate Change and the Evolution and Fate of the Tangier Islands of Chesapeake Bay*. 2015. USA. Sci. Rep. 5, 17890; doi: 10.1038/srep17890.

Scott Callander, Former Town Mayor. (Town of Bloxom). Personal Communications. January 25, 2016.

Sens, E. *Off US coast, Tangier Island disappearing under water*. 2017. <https://phys.org/news/2017-06-coast-tangier-island.html>.

Shannon Alexander, Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). Personal Communications. August 3, 2016.

Susan McGhee, Director of Planning, Permitting, and Enforcement. (Northampton County). Personal Communications. March 22, 2021.

Teresa Guy, Vice Mayor. (Town of Keller). Personal Communications. April 16, 2021.

The Nature Conservancy: *Barrier Islands*. 2021. <https://www.nature.org/en-us/get-involved/how-to-help/places-we-protect/vcr-barrier-islands/>.

The Nature Conservancy, Coastal Resilience Mapping Tool. 2021. www.maps.coastalresilience.org.

Titus, J.G. *State and Local Governments Plan for Development of Most Land Vulnerable to Rising Sea Level along the US Atlantic Coast*. 2009. Environmental Research Letters. Issue 3, Vol. 4.

Tom Brockenbrough, GIS Coordinator. (Accomack County). Personal Communications. March 2, 2021 and July 23, 2021.

Town Council. (Town of Cheriton). Personal Communications. January 14, 2016.

Town Council. (Town of Hallwood). Personal Communications. June 2, 2016.

Town Council. (Town of Keller). Personal Communications. November 4, 2015.

Town Council. (Town of Nassawadox). Personal Communications. January 27, 2016.

Town of Accomac. *Town of Accomac Website*. 2021. <https://accomac.org/>.

Town of Bloxom and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Bloxom Comprehensive Plan*. 2000.

Town of Cape Charles. *2018 Drinking Water Consumer Confidence Report*. 2019. <https://capecharles.org/files/documents/document1468053047062415.pdf>.

Town of Cape Charles. *Town of Cape Charles Comprehensive Plan*. 2016.

Town of Cheriton. *Town of Cheriton Comprehensive Plan*. 2010.

Town of Chincoteague Website: Law Enforcement. 2017. <https://chincoteague-va.gov/law-enforcement/>. Accessed January 2022.

Town of Chincoteague. *Storm Water Master Plan*. 2011.

Town of Chincoteague. *Town of Chincoteague Comprehensive Plan*. 2020.

Town of Chincoteague. *Water Supply Plan*. October 2010.

References

- Town of Eastville. *Town of Eastville Comprehensive Plan*. 2018.
- Town of Exmore. *Town of Exmore Comprehensive Plan*. 2015.
- Town of Hallwood and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Hallwood Comprehensive Plan*. 2002.
- Town of Keller and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Keller Comprehensive Plan*. 2006.
- Town of Melfa and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Melfa Comprehensive Plan*. 1997.
- Town of Nassawadox and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Nassawadox Comprehensive Plan*. 2000.
- Town of Onancock Planning Commission. *Town of Onancock Comprehensive Plan Draft*. 2021.
- Town of Onancock. *Fire | Town of Onancock, Virginia*. 2021. <https://www.onancock.com/fire>.
- Town of Onancock. *Police | Town of Onancock, Virginia*. 2021. <https://www.onancock.com/police>.
- Town of Onancock. *Town of Onancock Comprehensive Plan*. 2004.
- Town of Onancock. *Wharf Information | Town of Onancock, Virginia*. 2021. <https://www.onancock.com/wharf>.
- Town of Onley. *The Official Site of Onley, Virginia*. 2021. <http://townofonley.org/about/>.
- Town of Onley. *Town of Onley Comprehensive Plan*. 2017.
- Town of Painter and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Painter Comprehensive Plan*. 2002.
- Town of Parksley and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Parksley Comprehensive Plan*. 2006.
- Town of Saxis and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Saxis Comprehensive Plan*. 1997.
- Town of Saxis. *Saxis Zoning Ordinance*. 1993.
- Town of Tangier and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Tangier Comprehensive Plan*. 2001.
- Town of Wachapreague and Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (A-NPDC). *Town of Wachapreague Comprehensive Plan*. 1983.
- Town of Wachapreague. *Town of Wachapreague Comprehensive Plan*. 2016.
- Town Officials. (Town of Exmore). Personal Communications. December 7, 2015.
- Tyler Marshall, Fire Medic. (Town of Bloxom). Personal Communications. March 16, 2021.
- United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). *Cedar Island beneficial use of dredged material*. 2019. <https://www.nao.usace.army.mil/About/Projects/Cedar-Island-CAP-204/>.

Eastern Shore of Virginia Hazard Mitigation Plan 2021

United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). *Starlings Creek dredging*. 2015. <https://www.nao.usace.army.mil/About/Projects/Starlings-Creek-Dredging/>.

United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). *USACE awards contract to Virginia company to construct jetty at Tangier*. 2020. <https://www.nao.usace.army.mil/Media/NewsStories/Article/2198279/usace-awards-contract-to-virginia-company-to-construct-jetty-at-tangier/>.

United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). *Decision Document Review Plan Tangier Island Jetty*. 2012.

United States Census Bureau. *American Community Survey*. 2019 (Five-year Estimates). <https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census Annual Economic Surveys*. 2017. <https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/economic-census.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census County Business Patterns*. 2019. <https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/cbp/data/datasets.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census Zip Code Business Patterns*. 2000. <https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/cbp-nonemp-zbp/zbp-api.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census Zip Code Business Patterns*. 2009. <https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/cbp-nonemp-zbp/zbp-api.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census Zip Code Business Patterns*. 2011. <https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/cbp-nonemp-zbp/zbp-api.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *Census Zip Code Business Patterns*. 2013. <https://www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/cbp-nonemp-zbp/zbp-api.html>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 1950. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 1960. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 1970. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 1980. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 1990. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 2000. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 2010. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Census Bureau. *United States Census*. 2020. <https://www.census.gov/>.

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). *Census of Agriculture*. 2017. <https://www.nass.usda.gov/AgCensus/index.php>.

United States Department of Health Services. *Pandemic Flu History*. <http://www.flu.gov/pandemic/history/>. Retrieved March 1, 2021.

UVA Institute for Environmental Negotiation. *Resilience Adaptation Feasibility Tool (RAFT): Town of Wachapreague*. 2018. <https://raft.ien.virginia.edu/2018-2019-eastern-shore>.

References

- UVA Institute for Environmental Negotiation. *Saxis RAFT Workshop*. 2018.
- Vaughn, C. *Eastern Shore Post*, “46 Chincoteague cats trapped, neutered, released during weekend clinic.” May 20, 2021. <https://www.easternshorepost.com/2021/05/20/46-chincoteague-cats-trapped-neutered-released-during-weekend-clinic/>.
- Vaughn, C. *Eastern Shore Post*, “OVFD Update”. August 6, 2021. <https://www.easternshorepost.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/08.06.2021.pdf>.
- “Va. Watermen get eyeful of waterspouts.” *WBOC*. August 1, 2012. <https://www.wboc.com/story/19172644/vir-watermen-get-eyeful-of-waterspouts>.
- Virginia Coastal Zone Management Program (VCZMP). *Coastal Gems*. www.coastalgems.org.
- Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR). National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) Data. 2016.
- Virginia Department of Emergency Management (VDEM). *Know Your Zone*. 2021. <https://www.vaemergency.gov/hurricane-evacuation-zone-lookup/>.
- Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (VDEQ). *Water Quality Assessment Integrated Report*. 2018.
- Virginia Department of Mines, Minerals, and Energy. *Energy Assurance Plan*. 2012.
- Virginia Department of Social Services (DSS). *Virginia Department of Social Services Website*. 2021. <https://www.dss.virginia.gov/facility/search/cc2.cgi>.
- Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT). *Daily Traffic Volume Estimates Including Vehicle Classification Estimates*. 2020. https://www.virginiadot.org/info/resources/Traffic_2020/AADT_258_Melfa_2020.pdf.
- Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT). *VDOT Website*. 2021. <https://www.virginiadot.org/>.
- Virginia Department of Wildlife Resources (DWR). *Virginia DWR Website*. 2021. <https://dwr.virginia.gov/>.
- Virginia Employment Commission (VEC). *Economic Information & Analytics: Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW)*. 2020 (2nd Quarter).
- Virginia Institute of Marine Science (VIMS). *Shoreline Situation Report for Accomack County, Virginia*. 2002.
- Virginia Institute of Marine Science (VIMS). *Town of Saxis*. 2021. https://www.vims.edu/research/departments/physical/programs/ssp/shoreline_management/saxis/index.php.
- Virginia Marine Resources Commission (VMRC). *Virginia Marine Resources Commission Website*. 2016. <https://mrc.virginia.gov/mrc-permits.shtm>.
- Virginia Open Data Portal. *Community Policing Act Data Collection*. 2022. <https://data.virginia.gov/>.
- Virginia Places. *Virginia Places Website*. (Tangier Island). 2021. <http://www.virginiaplaces.org/chesbay/tangier.html>.

Virginia Realtors. *Eastern Shore Association of Realtors (ESAR) Eastern Shore Home Sales Report*. First Quarter, 2021.

“Waterspouts spotted over Accomack County.” *WBOC*. August 1, 2012. <https://www.wboc.com/story/19170318/waterspouts-spotted?clienttype=printable>.

WMAR Baltimore. *Possible waterspout, tornado activity reported*. September 12, 2015. <https://www.wmar2news.com/news/world/possible-waterspout-tornado-activity-reported-in-virginia>.

World Health Organization (WHO). *Influenza Overview*. 2021. <http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/2003/fs211/en/>. Retrieved March 18, 2021.